S210150

No. (Court of Appeal No. F063381) (Tulare County Super. Ct. No. VCU242057)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 2 2 2012

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, ET AL., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

V.

Deputy

COUNTY OF KERN and KERN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS,

Defendants and Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ARNOLD & PORTER LLP
STEVEN L. MAYER (No. 62030)
steve.mayer@aporter.com
3 Embarcadero Center
10th Floor
San Francisco, California 94111
Telephone: 415.471.3100
Facsimile: 415.471.3400

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. When a federal court declines to hear state-law claims within its supplemental jurisdiction and dismisses them without prejudice, and the statute of limitations has run while the state law claims were pending in federal court, does 28 U.S.C. §1367(d) give the plaintiff thirty days in which to refile in state court, as the Court of Appeal held in *Kolani v. Gluska*, 64 Cal. App. 4th 402 (1998), or is the thirty days extended by the remaining limitations period that existed when the plaintiff filed its federal action, as the Court of Appeal held in *Bonifield v. County of Nevada*, 94 Cal. App. 4th 298 (2001)?
- 2. Does the Integrated Waste Management Act, Public Resources Code Sections 40000-49620, which requires local agencies to "promote" and "maximize" recycling when implementing the Act, preempt a county ordinance that bans one form of recycling of one kind of solid waste, when the County's voters were not implementing the Act when they adopted the ordinance and when the Court of Appeal found preemption only by adopting a novel federal law preemption standard that has never been used by the California courts as the sole basis for invalidating a local ordinance?
- 3. Does the "regional welfare" doctrine, which requires that a local land use regulation that has a regional impact must "reasonably relate[] to the general welfare of the region it affects" (Associated Homebuilders, Inc. v. City of Livermore, 18 Cal. 3d 582, 610 (1976)), invalidate a local government's ban on recycling one form of solid waste when the Legislature, in passing a comprehensive solid waste management statute, made regional cooperation voluntary rather than mandatory?

INTRODUCTION

This case concerns a Kern County ordinance, known as Measure E, that bans the land application of treated sewage sludge, or "biosolids," in the County's unincorporated areas.

"Land application" means "the spraying, spreading or other placement of Biosolids onto the land surface, the injection of Biosolids below the surface, or the incorporation of Biosolids into the soil." 1 Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 39 (Measure E §8.05.030(D)). The trial court entered a preliminary injunction restraining the County from enforcing Measure E against the Plaintiffs until final judgment. Defendants County of Kern and the Kern County Board of Supervisors appealed from that order, and the Court of Appeal affirmed.

The Court of Appeal's decision presents for review one unresolved issue of federal law, as to which the Courts of Appeal in this State (and the courts of many other states) are in conflict. In addition, it presents an important and unresolved issue of state law preemption that affects cities and counties throughout California. Finally, it presents a novel and problematic application of the judicially created "regional welfare doctrine," whereby the Court of Appeal has effectively mandated regional cooperation with respect to solid waste management even though the Legislature made regional cooperation in this area voluntary rather than mandatory.

1. Federal district courts have supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims "that are so related to claims in the action within [the federal district court's] original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution." 28 U.S.C. §1367(a). Accordingly, where a plaintiff has a federal claim within the jurisdiction of a federal court, he can join a state law claim if the "state and federal claims... derive from a common nucleus of operative fact." United Mine Workers of Am. v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 725 (1966). However, if the federal claim is resolved in the defendant's favor, the federal court can—and frequently does—dismiss the state claims without prejudice, as the District Court did here. 1 AA 274-79.

How much time the plaintiff has to refile his state law claims in state court is governed by 28 U.S.C. §1367(d). That statute provides that "[t]he period of limitations" for any supplemental claim "shall be tolled while the claim is pending and for a period of 30 days after it is dismissed unless State law provides for a longer tolling period." 28 U.S.C. §1367(d)). The statute therefore "prevent[s] the limitations on . . . supplemental claims from expiring while the plaintiff was fruitlessly pursuing them in federal court." Jinks v. Rockland Cnty., 538 U.S. 456, 459 (2003).

In the twenty years since its adoption, both the California courts and courts across the country have adopted two conflicting views of how Section 1367(d) operates when, as in this case, a state statute of limitations expires while a supplemental claim is pending in federal court. Four courts, including the Second District, have held that in such cases the plaintiff must file a state court complaint within thirty days of the date its federal claim is dismissed. See Kolani v. Gluska, 64 Cal. App. 4th 402 (1998); accord, Berke v. Buckley Broad. Corp., 821 A.2d 118 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2003); Zhang Gui Juan v. Commonwealth, No. 99-032, 2001 WL 34883536 (N.M.I. 2001); Huang v. Ziko, 511 S.E.2d 305 (N.C. Ct. App. 1999). Five other courts, including the Third District and the Fifth District in this case, have held that a plaintiff can "tack on" to the thirty-day period provided by Section 1367(d) any portion of the state-law limitations period that had not expired when the plaintiff filed in federal court. See Bonifield v. Cnty. of Nevada, 94 Cal. App. 4th 298 (2001); accord, In re Vertrue Mktg. & Sales Practice Litig., 712 F. Supp. 2d 703 (N.D. Ohio 2010); Goodman v. Best Buy, Inc., 777 N.W.2d 755 (Minn. Ct. App. 2010); Turner v. Kight, 957 A.2d 984 (Md. Ct. App. 2008); Slip Op. 17-21. Under the latter approach, Section 1367(d) suspends the operation of a state statute of limitation while the case is pending in federal court, and the statute begins to run again thirty days after the case is dismissed.

The Court should grant review to resolve the conflict and hold that a plaintiff has only thirty days in which to refile its state law claims. That approach conforms to the statutory language and best resolves the conflicting interests at stake. *See* Part I, *infra*.

2. The Court of Appeal also erred in holding that Measure E was preempted by the Integrated Waste Management Act (the "Act"). While the court held that Measure E was preempted by Public Resources Code Section 40051(a) and (b) (Slip Op. 23), these statutes require that local public agencies "promote" and "maximize" recycling only when "implementing this division"—i.e., when implementing the Act. Accordingly, by their express terms, these requirements apply only when a local agency is implementing the Act, such as preparing the integrated waste management plans that the Act requires. However, the County was not implementing the Act when its voters adopted Measure E; instead, the voters were invoking the police power granted by Article XI, Section 7. Accordingly, Measure E is not preempted by Section 40051.

The Court of Appeal rejected this "plain language" interpretation of Section 40051 (even though it adopted a "plain language" interpretation of 28 U.S.C. §1367(d)) on the ground that upholding Measure E "would not be consistent with a statute that requires all local governments to adhere to waste management plans in which recycling is maximized." Slip Op. 25. But the fact that the Act might have been more efficient had it preempted local ordinances whenever they arguably made achieving the Act's recycling goals does not authorize the courts to disregard qualifying language from a statute that the Legislature included. CODE CIV. PROC. §1858 ("In the construction of a statute . . . the office of the Judge is simply to declare and ascertain what is in terms or substance contained therein; not to insert what has been omitted or omit what has been inserted"). Moreover, the courts have recognized that "some of the seeming lack of clarity or apparent logical gaps in the [Act] may be the result of deliberate

choices by the Legislature rather than inadvertence." Rodeo Sanitary Dist. v. Bd. of Supervisors, 71 Cal. App. 4th 1443, 1453 (1999). Accordingly, the Court must interpret "the act as it is written, not... a different, perhaps broader, version that could have been, or still may be, enacted." Waste Mgmt. of the Desert, Inc. v. Palm Springs Recycling Ctr., Inc., 7 Cal. 4th 478, 490 (1994). The Act "as it is written" does not preempt Measure E, because it was not adopted in the course of "implementing this division." The Court should grant review to correct the Court of Appeal's contrary ruling on this important issue. See Part II(A), infra.

In reaching the opposite result, the Court of Appeal applied a federal preemption test that has never been used as the sole basis for state preemption. In Great Western Shows, Inc. v. County of Los Angeles, 27 Cal. 4th 853 (2002), the Court cited a federal case (Blue Circle Cement, Inc. v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs, 27 F.3d 1499 (10th Cir. 1994)), for the proposition that "when a statute or statutory scheme seeks to promote a certain activity and, at the same time, permits more stringent local regulation of that activity, regulation cannot be used to ban the activity or otherwise frustrate the statute's purpose." 27 Cal. 4th at 868. But the Court in Great Western found Blue Circle Cement "distinguishable" (id.), and therefore had no reason to decide whether this federal standard was part of California law. Now, however, for the first time, a California court has applied this novel standard to preempt a local ordinance without relying on the traditional preemption tests recognized by this Court. See Slip Op. 24 ("Under this analysis, which we find persuasive here . . ."). For this reason, too, the preemption issue deserves review. At the very least, the Court should remand this case for reconsideration in light of the Court's forthcoming decision in City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patient's Health & Wellness Center, Inc., No. S198638 (argued Feb. 5, 2013). See Part II(B), infra.

3. Finally, review is warranted to consider the Court of Appeal's novel application of the "regional welfare doctrine." That doctrine, which is entirely judge-made, requires that a local land use regulation that has a regional impact must "reasonably relate[] to the general welfare of the region it affects." Associated Homebuilders, Inc., 18 Cal. 3d at 610 (1976). However, this doctrine has been applied in only a few cases, and never in a context where the Legislature had previously adopted a comprehensive statute covering the same subject that made regional cooperation voluntary rather than mandatory. The Court of Appeal's decision to rush in where the Legislature feared to tread raises novel separation of powers issues that should be resolved by this Court. See Part III, infra.

Each of these three issues would be review-worthy in and of itself. Taken together, these issues present an especially strong case for review. Indeed, Respondent City of Los Angeles has already acknowledged that the Court of Appeal's opinion "impacts not only the parties to the present action, but local governments and agencies throughout the state." Letter from James B. Slaughter to Court of Appeal, dated Feb. 27, 2013, at 2. Another Respondent has stated that the Opinion addresses "a matter of great and continuing public interest." Letter from Paul J. Beck to Court of Appeal, dated Mar. 4, 2013, at 2. And one amicus has argued that the case "is of national importance" (Letter from Nathan Gardner-Andrews to Court of Appeal, dated Feb. 27, 2013, at 1) and another said it was "of national significance." Letter from Amanda Waters to Court of Appeal, dated Mar. 1, 2013, at 1.

These statements are well-founded. As Respondent California Association of Sanitation Agencies told the Court of Appeal, numerous other counties have enacted local ordinances that are similar or identical to Measure E. See Letter from Roberta L. Larson to Court of Appeal, dated Mar. 4, 2013, at 2 ("Larson Letter"). Stanislaus and San Joaquin counties have banned all

land application of biosolids. STANISLAUS COUNTY CODE §9.34.040; SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY CODE §5-9102. San Luis Obispo County has banned all land application except for small amounts. SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY CODE §8.13.030. Sutter County has banned all land application except for biosolids bagged and sold at retail. SUTTER COUNTY HEALTH & SANITATION CODE §715-030. And Imperial County has banned the importation of biosolids. IMPERIAL COUNTY CODE Measure X §2 (2007). "In addition, practical bans have been adopted in at least 14 other counties across the state." Larson Letter at 2. Accordingly, the decision in this case will affect not only the parties and their residents (who constitute a sizable swath of Southern California) but all of the counties that have similar or identical ordinances and all of the local entities that ship their biosolids to them.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Local governments continuously collect and treat municipal sewage and must dispose of the byproducts of sewage treatment. Slip Op. 4. These byproducts, known as sewage sludge or biosolids, can be put in landfills, incinerated, or used as agricultural fertilizer ("land application"). *Id.* In 2009, 61% of biosolids generated by sewage treatment plants in California were land applied. *Id.*

Land application of biosolids is subject to federal, state, and local regulation. Slip Op. 4. Federal regulations divide biosolids into Class A and Class B according to the quantity of pathogenic microorganisms remaining after treatment. *Id.* Class A biosolids are treated to eliminate virtually all pathenogenic microorganisms. *Id.* at 5. Federal regulations allow them to be applied to land with few restrictions and also allow them to be bagged and sold for home gardening use. *Id.* In Class A Exceptional Quality (EQ) biosolids, eight trace metals may be present in concentrations no greater than a specified level. *Id.*

The State Water Resources Control Board has imposed additional regulations in the form of a general order issued in 2004, Water Quality Order No. 2004-0012-DWQ. Slip Op. 5. This general order requires each land application site to be approved before biosolids are applied. *Id.*

Before Measure E, Kern County permitted land application of Class A EQ biosolids. Slip Op. 5. This ordinance was challenged unsuccessfully by the same respondents that brought this case. County Sanitation Dist. No. 2 v. County of Kern, 127 Cal. App. 4th 1544 (2005). Although Respondents contended that this ordinance was invalid for multiple reasons, they did not contend that it was preempted by the Act. See id.

Government regulators have generally maintained that land application of biosolids is safe and have promoted it as an effective means of disposing of sewage treatment byproducts without landfilling or incineration. Slip Op. 5. Nevertheless, land to which biosolids have been applied may emit a foul odor and attract flies. Id. at 7. Indeed, the EPA says that "even the best offensive operations may run emit odors" (U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY, **Biosolids** Generation, Use, and Disposal in the United States 41 (1999) ("Biosolids Generation"), available at http://www.epa.gov/osw/ conserve/rrr/composting/pubs/biosolid.pdf), and the District Court that heard the Respondents' federal case found that Los Angeles' land application site "emanates strong odors and attracts an unusual amount of flies." City of Los Angeles v. Cnty. of Kern, 509 F. Supp. 2d 865, 873 (C.D. Cal. 2007), rev'd on other grounds, 581 F.3d 841 (9th Cir. 2009).

In 1994, the City of Los Angeles began to land apply biosolids at Green Acres Farm, a 4,700-acre farm in the unincorporated area of Kern County. Slip Op. 7. The city purchased the farm in 1999 for almost \$10 million. *Id.* When Kern County restricted land application to Class A EQ biosolids, Los Angeles spent about \$15 million to upgrade its sewage treatment plants to enable

them to process biosolids to the required quality level. *Id.* Today, about 75 percent of the biosolids generated by Los Angeles's sewage treatment plants are applied at Green Acres Farm. *Id.*¹

The County's voters approved Measure E in June 2006. Slip Op. 9. Shortly thereafter, Respondents filed a federal lawsuit challenging the Ordinance's validity on federal and state law grounds (the "Federal Case"). Plaintiffs' federal complaint asserted, inter alia, that Measure E (1) violates the dormant Commerce Clause, (2) is preempted by the Act, (3) constitutes an invalid exercise of the County's police power. 1 AA 139-77. The District Court granted a preliminary injunction, finding that Plaintiffs were likely to prevail on each of these claims. City of Los Angeles v. Cnty. of Kern, 462 F. Supp. 2d 1105, 1111 (C.D. Cal. 2006). Thereafter, the court granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs on their Commerce Clause and statelaw preemption claims, but found that disputed facts precluded summary judgment on their police power claim. City of Los Angeles, 509 F. Supp. 2d at 869-70.

On appeal, the Ninth Circuit held that Respondents lacked prudential standing to assert their Commerce Clause claim. *City of Los Angeles v. Cnty. of Kern*, 581 F.3d 841 (9th Cir. 2009). The court therefore dismissed Respondents' federal claim and remanded the case to the District Court to determine whether to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' preemption and police powers claims. *Id.* at 849. The District Court then declined to exercise supplemental jurisdiction and, on November 9, 2010, dismissed the Federal Case. 1 AA 274-79.

¹Respondents County Sanitation District No. 2 of Los Angeles County and Orange County Sanitation District used to land apply their biosolids in Kern County at property owned by former Respondent Shaen Magan. But they no longer do so, which is why Magan dismissed his claims against the County and those of an entity he owns known as Western Express while this appeal was pending. At the present time, the City of Los Angeles is the only entity land applying its biosolids in the county.

More than two-and-a-half months later, on January 26, 2011, Plaintiffs filed the present case, reasserting their claims that Measure E is preempted by the Act (1 AA 17-18 (¶¶63-72)); is an improper exercise of Kern County's police powers (1 AA 18 (¶¶73-78)); and violates the federal Commerce Clause (1 AA 19-20 (¶¶79-90)).²

Respondents then filed several motions for preliminary injunction. 1 AA 40, 280; 2 AA 296, 375. The trial court granted the motions, finding that Respondents were likely to prevail on their preemption and police powers claims and that the balance of hardships tipped in their favor. 3 AA 668-72.

Appellants did not contend on appeal that the trial court had abused its discretion in finding that the balance of hardships tipped in Respondents' favor. See Slip Op. 3. Instead, they contended that reversal was required because the court had erroneously concluded that Respondents were likely to succeed on their preemption and police power claims. The Court of Appeal recognized that, because the trial court had granted a preliminary injunction, reversal was required "if the trial court abused its discretion in concluding that plaintiffs are likely to succeed on at least one cause of action." Id. at 17. Nevertheless, it affirmed, finding that (1) Respondents' preemption and police power claims were not time-barred by 28 U.S.C. §1367(d) (id. at 17-21); and (2) Respondents were likely to prevail on each of these claims. Id. at 21-34.

The Court of Appeal's opinion was originally unpublished. See Ex. A. However, after all the Respondents and two amici requested publication on the ground that the Opinion was of

²Plaintiffs also added two new claims that were never made in the Federal Case that were based on the California Constitution. See 1 AA 20-21 (¶¶91-98), 21 (¶¶99-105). Like Plaintiffs' federal commerce clause claim, these claims are not at issue in the present appeal because the trial court did not rely on them in granting a preliminary injunction. See 3 AA 665-66.

statewide, or even national, importance (see pp.6-7, supra), on March 12 the court ordered that the Opinion be published. Ex. B.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I.

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICT BETWEEN KOLANI AND BONIFIELD REGARDING THE MEANING OF 28 U.S.C. §1367(d).

As the Court of Appeal recognized, state and federal courts around the country have adopted two conflicting interpretations of how 28 U.S.C. §1367(d) operates when, as in this case, a state statute of limitations expires while a supplemental claim is pending in federal court. See Slip Op. 18-19. Under the "Extension Approach," the plaintiff must file a state court complaint within thirty days of the date its federal claim is dismissed. Id. at 19. In contrast, under the "Suspension Approach," a plaintiff can "tack on" to the thirty-day period provided by Section 1367(d) any portion of the state-law limitations period that had not expired when the plaintiff filed in federal court. Id. at 18-19.

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