No. S210150 (Court of Appeal Case No. F063381) (Tulare County Superior Ct. No. VCU242057)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

City of Los Angeles, et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents

V

County of Kern and Kern County Board of Supervisors

Defendants and Appellants

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 1 3 2013

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH (No. 86629)
City Attorney
VALERIE FLORES (No. 138572)
Managing Assistant City Attorney
EDWARD M. JORDAN (No. 180390)
Assistant City Attorney
CITY OF LOS ANGELES
1800 City Hall, 200 N. Main Street
Los Angeles, CA 90012-4110

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

REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

This Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question

of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). Otherwise, "[t]he supreme court's focus is not on correction of error by the court of appeal in a specific case." Jon B. Eisenberg, Ellis J. Horvits & Justice Howard B. Wiener (Ret.), California Practice Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs, § 13:1, at 13-1 (2012) (citing People v. Davis, 147 Cal. 346, 348 (1905)). This standard has been the law for over a century.

Kern's petition does not show that this case meets the criteria for securing uniformity or legal importance. There are no conflicting decisions on the substantive issues in the case – Kern identifies no contrary IWMA or police power case law. The stale conflict over a federal tolling statute presented by a Court of Appeal decision fifteen years ago and now in the minority does not merit review by this Court. Federal case law and recent decisions in other jurisdictions agree with the interpretation of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) adopted by the courts below. Further, the Court of Appeal issued straightforward and unremarkable findings on Respondents' likelihood of success on their police power and IWMA claims, leaving no unsettled important legal issue for this Court's review. Thus, Kern is left only with its merits arguments, which identify no points or authorities unaddressed by the Court of Appeal, and alone cannot justify this Court granting a petition for review.²

In addition, the posture of this case favors denial of Kern's petition. While this Court has authority to review interlocutory orders under Cal. R.

The other three grounds for review are inapplicable and Kern's petition does not contend otherwise. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(2)-(4).

² Respondents do not concur with Kern's "Issues Presented," which contravene this Court's requirement for a "concise, nonargumentative statement of the issues presented for review" by assuming the conclusions of Kern's merits arguments below. Petition ("Pet.") at 1; Cal. R. Ct. 8.504(b)(1). The only issue before the Court at this point is whether review of the Court of Appeal's affirmance of the preliminary injunction against enforcement of Measure E is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

Ct. 8.500(a)(1), the case would come before this Court on Kern's appeal of a preliminary injunction decision that was based on two alternative grounds. The finality of the proceedings and judgment below that is the hallmark of most appellate review is absent here, and the case would have to return to the Superior Court regardless of the Court's decision.

Moreover, review of the preliminary injunction is unwarranted because the injunction simply maintains the decades-long status quo of land application of biosolids in Kern County; Kern does not contest on appeal the finding that the practice is safe and beneficial. As this Court has held, "[t]he ultimate goal of any test to be used in deciding whether a preliminary injunction should issue is to minimize the harm which an erroneous interim decision may cause." IT Corp. v. Cnty. of Imperial, 35 Cal. 3d 63, 73 (1983). Kern on appeal alleges no such interim harm. Kern's failure to demonstrate harm to its own interests from continued land application renders it even more unlikely that, even if its petition were granted, Kern could satisfy its burden to prove the abuse of discretion necessary to overturn the preliminary injunction. Slip Op. at 3, 16-17; IT Corp, 35 Cal. 3d at 69 ("A trial court will be found to have abused its discretion only when it has exceeded the bounds of reason or contravened the uncontradicted evidence.") (internal citations and quotations omitted). In sum, nothing forecloses Kern from petitioning this Court for review on any underlying rulings on appeal of a final judgment, and the Court should not favor this petition for a review of a preliminary injunction over the many petitions for review of final judgments.

// //

//

- I. REVIEW IS NOT NECESSARY TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION OR TO SETTLE AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW REGARDING THE TIMELINESS OF RESPONDENTS' CLAIMS.
 - A. Case Law Interpreting 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) Has Trended Toward Its Plain Text and the Suspension Approach.

Kern's petition asks this Court to resolve a conflict among California's appellate districts and a "national split" interpreting 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d). Kern mischaracterizes the state of the law. The one federal case on point, the two decisions by the highest courts of other states, and the most recent prior Court of Appeal decision all embrace the interpretation of § 1367(d) adopted by the courts below. Any conflict posed by one fifteen-year-old Court of Appeal decision that adopted a contrary view of a federal statute and has become an outlier does not justify review by this Court.

Section 1367(d) provides that "[t]he period of limitations for any claim asserted under [federal supplemental jurisdiction] ... shall be tolled while the [federal] claim is pending and for a period of 30 days after it is dismissed." Respondents timely refiled their action in state court with, at most, 102 days of the three-year statute of limitations period having run.

Decisions interpreting Section 1367(d) have moved towards uniform application of the statute's plain text to suspend the running of the statute of limitations while the state claims are in federal court, the approach adopted by the Court of Appeal here. Under this "suspension approach," the state statute of limitations stops running while the claim is pending in federal court and for 30 days after it is dismissed, and begins running again after that period expires. Slip. Op. at 18-19. Kern advocates a different "extension approach" based on policy grounds divorced from the statutory language. Under Kern's outdated view, Section 1367(d) has meaning only in cases when the state statute of limitations "expires" during the pendency of the federal claim (despite that it is "tolled" during this period), and in

that instance the state limitations period is replaced by a new 30-day limitations period after the federal case is dismissed. *Id.*; Pet. at 11.

The trend, in California and in federal courts and state supreme courts around the country, is to adhere to the statute's plain language and the suspension approach. This displaces the earlier cases adopting the policy-driven extension approach to Section 1367(d) advocated by Kern. Kern's petition relies on three state cases (and one unpublished case from the Mariana Islands) no more recent than 2003, and none from a state's highest court. Pet. at 3, *Kolani v. Gluska*, 64 Cal. App. 4th 402, 410-411 (1998); *Huang v. Ziko*, 511 S.E. 2d 305, 308 (N.C. Ct. App. 1999) (relying on "the policy in favor of prompt prosecution of legal claims" in adopting extension approach); *Berke v. Buckley Broadcasting Corp.*, 821 A.2d 118, 123 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2003) (despite the statutory language, "we do not believe that the federal statute intends a result that would permit a gross protraction of the limitations period"); *Zhang Gui Juan v.*Commonwealth, No. 99-032, 2001 WL 34883536 (N.M.I. Nov. 19, 2001).

By contrast, more recent cases have found that Section 1367(d) is amenable to only the single interpretation reflected in its plain text. The Court of Appeal specifically considered and refuted *Kolani* in a decision just three years later and in the decision below, and *Kolani* has not been favorably cited since on Section 1367(d) grounds. Slip Op. at 17-21 (adopting the "natural interpretation" of § 1367(d)); *Bonifield v. Cnty. of Nevada*, 94 Cal. App. 4th 298, 303-04 (2001) ("Tolling may be analogized to a clock that is stopped and then restarted. Whatever period of time that remained when the clock is stopped is available when the clock is restarted,

Also instructive, the only federal court to squarely interpret this federal law has upheld its plain language, as the Court of Appeal did here. *In re*

that is, when the tolling period has ended.") (internal citation omitted).

Vertrue Mktg. and Sales Practices Litig., 712 F. Supp. 2d 703, 724 (N.D.

Ohio 2010) ("the only reading . . . that gives meaning to all of the words chosen by Congress" is the plain text approach). The highest courts of two states have reached the same result. *Goodman v. Best Buy*, 777 N.W.2d 755, 760 (Minn. 2010) (extension approach "creat[es] ambiguity where none exists by reading missing words or conditions into the statute"); *Turner v. Kight*, 957 A.2d 984, 992 (Md. 2008) (following *Bonifield* after textual analysis).³

The case law in California has naturally moved toward the plain text approach that suspends the running of the statute. The legacy of one conflicting opinion regarding the meaning of a federal statute does not merit review by this Court, particularly in the context of an appeal of a preliminary injunction. Rather, the Court should let this trend continue to develop and percolate through the courts. *See* Eisenberg, Horvits & Wiener, *supra*, § 13:73.1, at 13-19 ("Sometimes the supreme court will wait for an issue to be debated thoroughly—or 'percolate'—in the courts of appeal before review is granted"); *Brown v. Texas*, 522 U.S. 940, 943 (1997) (Stevens, J., on denial of certiorari) ("[T]he likelihood that the issue will be resolved correctly may increase if this Court allows other tribunals to serve as laboratories in which the issue receives further study before it is addressed by this Court.").

B. Interpretation of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) Does Not Present an Important Unsettled Question of Law.

Petitioners assert that the Court of Appeal was "incorrect" in concluding that the suspension approach is the "best reading" of the statutory language. Pet. at 13. But Kern's disagreement with the Court of Appeal and desire for another level of appeal cannot force this Court's review. *See Davis*, 147 Cal. at 350 ("The state has done its full duty in providing appellate relief for its citizens when it has provided one court to

³ Kern miscites *Goodman* and *Turner* as lower appellate cases. Pet. at iii, 3.

which an appeal may be taken as of right. There is no abstract or inherent right in every citizen to take every case to the highest court.") In any event, the strength and simplicity of the Court of Appeal's opinion underscores that further appellate review of this issue is unnecessary.

It is well settled that, when analyzing a federal statute, a court must "presume that [Congress] says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there." *Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253-254 (1992). "[I]f the intent of Congress is clear and unambiguously expressed by the statutory language," further analysis is unnecessary. *Zuni Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 89 v. Dep't of Educ.*, 550 U.S. 81, 93 (2007). Every word of the statute should be given effect. *Reiter v. Sonotone Corp.*, 442 U.S. 330, 339 (1979).

As the Court of Appeal held, "the natural interpretation" of Section 1367(d) is that "the statute of limitations stops running while the claim is pending in federal court and for 30 days after it is dismissed; then the statute of limitations begins to run again from the point where it left off." Slip Op. at 18. Kern's interpretation is "not equally plausible"; "[i]f Congress had intended the rule Kern supports, it could have written that the 'period of limitations for any claim that would otherwise expire while it is pending or during a period of 30 days after it is dismissed shall be extended by 30 days from the time of dismissal,' or something similar. It did not." Slip Op. at 20. This federal statute has been interpreted the same way in federal court. *In re Vertrue*, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 724.

Finally, the Court of Appeal considered and rejected the same policy considerations Kern proffers in its petition. Slip Op. at 21. The Court of Appeal discerned no ubiquitous rule favoring a shorter limitations period because giving defendants repose is balanced by the goal that "meritorious claims can have their day in court." *Id.* As the U.S. Supreme Court has held in another context, suspending the limitations period "is in no way

inconsistent with the functional operation of a statute of limitations." Am. Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538, 554 (1974) (finding "commencement of a class action suspends the applicable statute of limitations as to all asserted members of the class who would have been parties had the suit been permitted to continue as a class action"); see also In re Vertrue, 712 F. Supp. 2d at 724 (noting "the suspension approach is consistent with American Pipe"). The same is true here; the time period to prosecute claims derives from the operation of the state statute of limitations, and Section 1367(d)'s suspension of that period while a claim is pending in federal court works no prejudice to the defendant because the federal filing gives the defendant notice that it also faces state law claims.

Kern's repeated hypotheticals of "excessive delays" caused by the Court of Appeal's adherence to the suspension approach also ring hollow because they bear no relationship to the actual facts of this case, where Respondents' conduct was not dilatory. See Pet. at 15. Respondents filed their original federal court action almost immediately after passage of Measure E. After the dismissal of the federal suit in November 2010, there was uncertainty regarding the status of Measure E. One week after receiving an enforcement notice from Kern in January 2011, Respondents filed a new lawsuit in state court. Kern's facile assertion that filing a new complaint in state court is "ministerial" (Pet. at 14) ignores the realities of litigation involving large public agencies and multiple parties, particularly in the uncommon circumstances here where Respondents had prevailed on the merits of multiple claims, were dismissed from federal court on unusual standing grounds, retained a successful federal claim to be decided anew in state court, and hoped for resolution of the matter. Kern also identifies no prejudice it has suffered as a result of the Court of Appeal's ruling, other than it must defend Measure E on the merits.

C. Kern's Petition Should Be Denied Because It Is Not Dispositive of the Timeliness of Respondents' Claims.

Even if Kern's petition presented a significant conflict or unsettled important question of law regarding the federal tolling statute, which it does not, this case does not serve as an appropriate vehicle for this Court's review because the interpretation of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) is not a dispositive issue in this case.

Kern's petition omits other timeliness grounds raised by Respondents and briefed by the parties. See, e.g., 2 Appellants' Appendix ("AA") 392-95. Because the trial court overruled Kern's demurrer based on Section 1367(d), and the Court of Appeal similarly rejected Kern's Section 1367(d) argument when raised on appeal of the preliminary injunction, there has been no occasion to decide Respondents' argument that their claims are timely under Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 355. In addition, neither court opined on Respondents' argument that their claims accrued on January 19, 2011. On that date, Kern first stated its intent to enforce Measure E against Respondents by sending a letter stating that Respondents "are now subject to the provisions of Measure E," and that Respondents had "six (6) months from the date of this letter to discontinue the land application of biosolids." Slip Op. at 12; 2 AA 413. This January 19 letter was an enforcement action that caused Respondents' claims to accrue anew. Kern's petition for interlocutory review should be denied because a ruling in Kern's favor would not end the litigation.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S CONCLUSION THAT RESPONDENTS ARE LIKELY TO SUCCEED ON THEIR REGIONAL WELFARE CLAIM DOES NOT RAISE A CONFLICT OR AN IMPORTANT UNSETTLED QUESTION OF LAW.

The Court of Appeal agreed with the trial court that, based on the extensive evidence of the one-sided damage Measure E would inflict on the

Southland's wastewater infrastructure, Respondents were likely to succeed on their claim that Measure E exceeds Kern's constitutional police power. This fact-based ruling is not unusual and does not create a conflict, and therefore no further review is justified.

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